#### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 03/04/2022 12:54 PM Filed 03/04/2022 12:54 PM

### NIZAR ZAKKA,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

# PALLADIUM INTERNATIONAL, LLC, and EDWARD ABEL,

Defendant-Appellees.

On appeal from an order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Case No. 2020 CA 004591 B (Pan, J.)

#### OPENING BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT NIZAR ZAKKA

Richard J. Leveridge (D.C. Bar No. 358629)
Adam H. Farra\* (D.C. Bar No. 1028649)
Rachel H. Jennings (D.C. Bar No. 241370)
GILBERT LLP
700 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E.
Suite 400
Washington, D.C. 20003
(202) 772-2301
LeveridgeR@GilbertLegal.com
FarraA@GilbertLegal.com
JenningsR@GilbertLegal.com

10lu v. Ayodeji, 945 A.2d 596 (D.C. 2008)
In re U.S. Off. of Pers. Mgmt. Data Sec. Breach Litig.,* 928 F.3d 42 (D.C. Cir. 2019)
Yearsley v. W.A. Ross Const. Co.,* 309 U.S. 18 (1940)
Statutes
Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2680(a)
Other Authorities
48 C.F.R. § 752.7027
D.C. Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1)passim
D.C. Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)29, 30
D C C ' C (D 1 CC' '1D 1 10(1)
D.C. Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 12(d)
D.C. Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 12(d)

## **RULE 28(a)(2) STATEMENT**

The following is a list of all parties and their counsel in the proceeding:

Plaintiff-Appellant:

Mr. Nizar Zakka

Counsel for Mr. Nizar Zakka:

Richard J. Leveridge (D.C. Bar No. 358629) Adam H. Farra (D.C. Bar No. 1028649) Rachel H. Jennings (D.C. Bar No. 241370) GILBERT LLP

Defendant-Appellees:

Palladium International, LLC Mr. Edward Abel

Counsel for Defendant-Appellees:

Benjamin S. Boyd Mary E. Gately Paul D. Schmitt Sean Croft DLA PIPER

A disclosure statement is not required for Mr. Zakka under Rule 26.1.

#### INTRODUCTION & SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Nizar Zakka ("Plaintiff") spent nearly four years imprisoned, interrogated, and tortured in Iran's notorious Evin prison. He traveled to Iran because Palladium International, LLC ("Palladium"), and its senior executive, Edward Abel (collectively, "Defendants"), sent him there as part of the "Women's Alliance for Virtual Exchange" ("WAVE II") program, which was funded by a grant from the U.S. State Department. But what Defendants knew and never told Mr. Zakka was that he faced a uniquely heightened risk of imprisonment in traveling to Iran because the Iranian government considered Palladium an agent of the Arab Gulf States, Iran's adversaries, and thus would likely target Mr. Zakka for his affiliation with Palladium. Compounding their negligence, Defendants also failed to provide Mr. Zakka with *any* of the security precautions that Defendants told the State Department they would implement for the WAVE II program – precautions typical of the international development industry and required by Palladium's internal policies. Defendants thus failed to warn, train, or protect Mr. Zakka for his trip to Iran. Instead, they painted a target on his back by holding him out as the face of the WAVE II program.

When Mr. Zakka was finally released by the Iranian government in June 2019, he sued Palladium and Mr. Abel in D.C. Superior Court for their reckless mismanagement of the WAVE II program and his travel to Iran.

Palladium and Mr. Abel assiduously blamed the State Department. They claimed that Mr. Zakka's travel to Iran was authorized by the State Department and that they were not obligated to provide warnings, trainings, or take any precautions for Mr. Zakka because they were not explicitly required to do so by the State Department. They moved to dismiss Mr. Zakka's suit on the theory that they were entitled to immunity under *Yearsley v. W.A. Ross Const. Co.*, 309 U.S. 18, 20 (1940), which holds that a private company cannot be held liable in tort when the U.S. government "authorized and directed" the private company's tortious conduct pursuant to a valid conferral of governmental authority, and they moved to stay discovery until after their motion had been addressed.

After permitting (very) limited discovery, the Superior Court adopted Defendants' argument in full. It held under D.C. Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the dispute. Stating that "the solution is not always a lawsuit," Joint Appendix 788–89 ("J.A."), the Superior Court dismissed Mr. Zakka's suit with prejudice, denied his motion to compel relevant discovery from Defendants, and rejected his request to take discovery from the State Department on the key issue raised in the motion to dismiss – whether it in fact authorized and directed Defendants' tortious conduct.

In granting Defendants' motion, the Superior Court committed three fundamental legal errors.

- 1. It applied the wrong standard of review. The *Yearsley* defense is not a jurisdictional immunity from suit analyzed under Rule 12(b)(1). It is an affirmative defense against liability that must be analyzed under Rule 56's summary judgment standard. The court was not permitted to make credibility determinations or resolve disputed issues of fact both of which it did when it inexplicably discredited the declarations submitted in the litigation by Mr. Zakka and Nadia Alami, the former Palladium employee who was the "the program director with top managerial and operational authority" for the WAVE II program and who reported directly to Mr. Abel. J.A. 674. Proper application of the correct standard of review precludes summary judgment and necessitates reversal.
- 2. The Superior Court misapplied *Yearsley*. As *Yearsley* itself makes clear, the legal test is whether the U.S. government "authorized *and directed*" Defendants' *tortious conduct*. 309 U.S. at 20 (emphasis added). Rather than ask whether Defendants' full allegations of tortious conduct were authorized and directed by the State Department, the Superior Court ignored part of the question and part of Mr. Zakka's allegations, asking only "whether the State Department authorized plaintiff's travel to Iran in September of 2015." J.A. 297.

This was wrong for two reasons. First, the Superior Court erased part of the legal standard – the "and directed" requirement. Second, and compounding its error, the Superior Court applied its erroneous *Yearsley* standard to only *part* of

Mr. Zakka's allegations. The court asked whether the State Department authorized Mr. Zakka's travel to Iran. But Mr. Zakka's suit was not about merely whether Defendants sent him to Iran. He alleged that Defendants sent him to Iran without warning him of the risks of traveling there on Palladium's behalf and without taking any meaningful security precautions, including ones the Defendants told the State Department they would take. Yearsley requires a court to ask whether the State Department authorized and directed Defendants' tortious conduct – not one isolated part of that conduct. Under the correct legal standard, Defendants were not entitled to Yearsley immunity because the State Department did not authorize and direct their failure to provide Mr. Zakka with the relevant warnings, training, or precautions.

3. The record was insufficient as a matter of law to sustain the Superior Court's conclusion that Defendants were entitled to *Yearsley* immunity. Two examples of the record confirm this.

The first was a September 8, 2015 email from a State Department representative (Shervin Hadjilou) in which Ms. Hadjilou told Palladium that Mr. Zakka's travel to Iran "is not required under the terms of the project, but is undertaken at the organization's [Palladium's] and traveler's own risk." J.A. 679 (emphasis added). Palladium's decision to send Mr. Zakka to Iran at all was thus not a requirement or directive or even endorsed by the State Department, but was

instead a decision Palladium made in its own discretion and at its "own risk." This exercise of discretion is antithetical to *Yearsley* immunity. "We have held in the domestic context that a contractor might avail itself of the government's derivative immunity only where it acts pursuant to specific directions from the government. . . . [D]erivative immunity does not apply to contractors exercising discretion in working to accomplish broad governmental objectives[.]" *Broidy Cap. Mgmt. LLC v. Muzin*, 12 F.4th 789, 803 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (citation omitted). Defendants could not show that their exercise of discretion in sending Mr. Zakka to Iran entitled them to an immunity predicated on them exercising no discretion in compliance with a specific government directive.

The second example from the record was the "Technical Application" (the bid) that Palladium and Mr. Abel submitted to win the WAVE II award from the State Department. In that bid, Palladium and Mr. Abel made detailed representations about the "Security Standard Operating Procedures" Palladium would employ for the WAVE II program and travel for the program. The State Department approved the application and awarded the WAVE II program grant to Palladium – which then promptly failed to implement any Standard Security Operating Procedures. (Defendants refused to produce any documents on this topic, and the Superior Court denied Plaintiff's motion to compel on the issue, ruling that the topic was not "relevant to my ruling." J.A. 802.) These facts

precluded application of *Yearsley*. A private company that makes certain representations to a federal agency about how it will conduct itself cannot be said to have acted in a manner that is authorized and directed by that agency when it fails to abide by those representations. *Campbell-Ewald Co. v. Gomez*, 577 U.S. 153, 154 (2016), *as revised* (Feb. 9, 2016).

For these reasons and those that follow, the Court should reverse.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant Nizar Zakka filed his Complaint on November 4, 2020. J.A. 7–29. On January 19, 2020, Defendants moved to dismiss Mr. Zakka's suit, asserting seven different grounds for dismissal. J.A. 41. On February 12, 2021, the Superior Court granted Defendants' motion for a protective order, staying discovery pending resolution of the motion to dismiss. J.A. 3.

The Superior Court held the first motion to dismiss hearing on May 10, 2021. J.A. 4. The court ruled that it would resolve Defendants' contention that they were entitled to immunity from suit under *Yearsley*. J.A. 276. The court held Defendants' motion in abeyance pending "limited discovery through June 10, 2021 [for 30 days], on the issue of whether the State Department authorized plaintiff's travel to Iran in September of 2015." J.A. 297. The court also set a schedule for post-limited discovery briefing on the *Yearsley* issue. *Id*.

On June 10, 2021, the parties made document productions to each other. *Id.* A few days later, Plaintiff notified Defendants of deficiencies in their document production. J.A. 310, 388–89. The parties reached impasse on the two deficiencies, and Plaintiff filed a motion to compel on June 24, 2021. J.A. 302.

The same day, Defendants filed their supplemental brief on the *Yearsley* defense. J.A. 456. Plaintiff filed his supplemental brief on July 8, 2021. J.A. 575. Among other arguments, Plaintiff argued that the motion should be denied pending discovery from the State Department on whether it authorized *and directed* Defendants' tortious conduct. J.A. 596.

The Superior Court held its second motion to dismiss hearing on September 15, 2021. J.A. 766. After very brief argument, the court ruled that it was granting Defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1). J.A. 793. The court stated that it would grant Defendants' motion even were it to apply the summary judgment standard of review in Rule 56. *Id*.

Plaintiff requested leave to amend the Complaint to conform the allegations to the court's alteration of the *Yearsley* legal standard; the court denied that request. J.A. 801. The court also denied Plaintiff's motion to compel and request for discovery from the State Department, ruling that the discovery was not relevant. J.A. 802. Mr. Zakka filed his notice of appeal on October 4, 2021. J.A. 805–06. This appeal is from a final order that disposes of all parties' claims.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Nizar Zakka is a 55-year-old U.S. citizen who lives in Washington, D.C. J.A. 10. Born and raised in Lebanon, Mr. Zakka came to the United States as a teenager and has lived in the U.S. since 1985. J.A. 10. At the time of his abduction, Mr. Zakka was employed as the Secretary-General of "IJMA3," a Lebanon-based non-profit focused on cultivating the use of information and communications technology in the Middle East. J.A. 12, 601. As part of the WAVE II program, Palladium retained IJMA3 via a sub-agreement, and Palladium sent Mr. Zakka to Iran as part of its sub-agreement with IJMA3. J.A. 14, 16, 136.

### I. THE ORIGIN OF THE WAVE II PROGRAM.

Beginning in 2012, the State Department and the U.S. Agency for International Development ("USAID") began funding two programs involving the support of women's groups and civil society organizations in Iran: the original WAVE program (known as "WAVE I") and the "CIVIC" program. J.A. 601, 673. Although this case specifically involves the WAVE program, the programs were considered complements of each other, with largely similar participants, goals, and operations. *See* J.A. 603–04. They were referred to as the "Iran program(s)."

Both programs sought to help Iranian civil society organizations, primarily through educating them about the use of information and communications technology. J.A. 603–04. This was done through hosting workshops, conferences,

trainings, and providing grants. J.A. 86, 112. With respect to WAVE, the goal was to support and make sustainable a regional Middle Eastern network of non-profits – called "WAVE" – that would promote information and communications technology use amongst women's groups. J.A. 704.

Until 2014, International Relief & Development ("IRD") operated the WAVE I and CIVIC programs. J.A. 674. The "Chief of Party" for the programs was an IRD employee, Nadia Alami. J.A. 602, 673. As Ms. Alami explained in her declaration submitted in this litigation, "'Chief of Party' is a term of art in the international development and contracting industry, generally meaning the program director with top managerial and operational authority." J.A. 673. Mr. Zakka and his employer, IJMA3, were sub-grantees in the WAVE I and CIVIC programs and reported to IRD. J.A. 602.

In 2014, USAID exited the WAVE I and CIVIC programs, leaving only the State Department. J.A. 602, 674. Separately, in May 2014 IRD lost its ability to receive federal funds, including the WAVE I and CIVIC program funds. J.A. 603, 674. Ms. Alami met with Mr. Abel, who was a senior executive at Palladium. J.A. 603, 674. Mr. Abel hired Ms. Alami "with the understanding that we would be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the time, Palladium was known as "Futures Group." In early 2015, Futures Group began calling itself "Palladium" as part of a rebrand and business combination. J.A. 673.

able to continue the Iran programs with Palladium" in place of IRD. J.A. 674.

They pitched the State Department together on renewing the WAVE I and CIVIC programs with Palladium. *Id*.

# II. PALLADIUM SUCCESSFULLY BIDS FOR THE WAVE II PROGRAM.

Palladium submitted a "Technical Application" to the State Department in February 2015, its bid to formally win the "WAVE II" award. J.A. 611, 628, 674–75.<sup>3</sup> Signed by Mr. Abel, J.A. 628, the Technical Application described how Palladium would operate the WAVE II program and identified the sub-grantees ("partners") Palladium would retain and manage for the program, including IJMA3, J.A. 633–34.

The Technical Application also described the "Corporate Security Policies" Palladium would use for the WAVE II program and travel for the program. J.A. 640–41. Palladium boasted that its "security team is led by our Global Security Manager" who "oversees all comprehensive risk and threat assessments for [Palladium] active projects," how the risk assessments "focus on the current security situation in each country, and forecast likely developments in the future," and how Palladium, "[b]ased on current security practices and procedures, . . . has formulated a risk mitigation plan with a number of key operating principles and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "WAVE II" because it was a renewal of the prior WAVE program with IRD.

standard operating procedures" for the WAVE II program. J.A. 640. The Technical Application further stated that "[f]or this project [Palladium] will produce a comprehensive set of Security Standard Operating Procedures that could include" (among other things) "[a] robust crisis management plan including appropriate response options using either an outsourced provider and/or national security forces," "[a] practical evacuation plan for both internal and external options," "[t]he issue and use of the right security equipment," "[t]he correct level of security training and regular briefings for all staff," "[e]ffective transport and movement plans," and "[p]ersonal and accommodation security measures." J.A. 640–41.

In 2015 the State Department approved the Technical Application and designated Palladium as the prime grantee, implementer, or recipient of the WAVE II program. J.A. 674–75, 684. (These terms were used synonymously.)

# III. THE STRUCTURE AND OPERATION OF THE WAVE II PROGRAM.

In April 2015, Palladium and the State Department executed the WAVE II Cooperative Agreement. J.A. 684. It incorporated by reference Palladium's Technical Application. *Id.* Ms. Alami became a Palladium employee and the Chief of Party for the WAVE II program. J.A. 674.

As both Ms. Alami and Mr. Zakka explained in their declarations, "[t]he Iran program agreements were not 'government contracts.' They were 'cooperative

agreements' that operated like government grants. The State Department was a donor of funds to Palladium . . . . Palladium was not a 'contractor.' It was the 'prime grantee,' 'implementer,' or 'recipient' of federal funds operating a program that Palladium designed and the State Department approved." *See* J.A. 604, 675–76. The official representing the State Department was not a contracting officer, but a "grants officer." J.A. 684.

Mr. Zakka, who spent his career working in the government contracting industry, explained the importance of these distinctions: "[i]n a typical government contract, the government agency has specific requirements about the contractor's objectives and the methods used to achieve those objectives. This is accomplished under the careful scrutiny of the government agency." J.A. 604. But "[t]he Iran program cooperative agreements were not like that" because "Palladium retained total operational control to develop and implement the methods Iran program staff could use to achieve [their] objectives." J.A. 604–05.

Palladium thus exercised "total discretion and ultimate authority to operate the cooperative agreement's subject program." J.A. 604. The Chief of Party "set the agenda and the Iran program objectives," "decided how Palladium and IJMA3 and other subgrantees would ultimately achieve the goals of the Iran program cooperative agreements (including travel)," exercised "the ability to decide [] who would be program staff (including consultants and IJMA3)," "oversaw the day-to-

day operation of the Iran program," "oversaw the budgeting process and approved expenses," and served as "the contact point with the State Department for the Iran program. IJMA3 and its employees, including [Mr. Zakka], reported to Ms. Alami." J.A. 602. Ms. Alami, in turn, reported directly to Mr. Abel. J.A. 674.

The documents corroborated this. The WAVE II Cooperative Agreement described a limited role for the State Department. It would "concur" with Palladium's "Work Plans" and "Monitoring and Evaluation Plans." J.A. 690. For travel not in an approved Work Plan, the grants officer would provide "prior approval . . . of all travel details (destination, number of participants, number of trips)" and "ensure that all proposed travel is documented accordingly and that sufficient funds exist in the budget for such activities." *Id.* The State Department could not (among other things) "place[] an employee of the Department of State as a supervisor of [Palladium's] employees." J.A. 691.

The Work Plan similarly described how Palladium would assume "overall management of the cooperative agreement including ensuring project deliverables, partner oversight [meaning oversight of IJMA3], [monitoring and evaluation], technical expertise, and sustainability," and that IJMA3 would "lead[] all incountry coordination, which includes managing the WAVE [online] portal and social media, overseeing the WAVE Board of Directors, establishing the WAVE office in Lebanon, and hosting some regional activities related to the WAVE

Business Plan." J.A. 554. Palladium's Monitoring and Evaluation Plan described how Palladium would report on progress in the WAVE II program, including its monitoring of IJMA3 personnel. J.A. 530.

### IV. PALLADIUM SENDS MR. ZAKKA TO IRAN IN SEPTEMBER 2015.

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