CASE NO. 21-CV-690

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



NIZAR ZAKKA,

Appellant,

V.

PALLADIUM INTERNATIONAL, LLC, and EDWARD ABEL,

Appellees.

On Appeal from D.C. Superior Court Case No. 2020 CA 004591 B
The Honorable Florence Pan presiding

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES PALLADIUM INTERNATIONAL, LLC AND EDWARD ABEL

*Benjamin S. Boyd
(D.C. Bar No. 413698)
benjamin.boyd@dlapiper.com
Mary E. Gately
(DC Bar No. 419151)
mary.gately@dlapiper.com
Paul D. Schmitt
(D.C. Bar No. 1007680)
paul.schmitt@dlapiper.com
DLA PIPER LLP (US)
500 Eighth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20004
Tel: (202) 799-4502

Sean Croft
(D.C. Bar No. 1644356)
sean.croft@dlapiper.com
DLA PIPER LLP (US)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Superior Court properly ruled that Palladium and Mr. Abel were immune from suit under *Yearsley*, and this Court should affirm that ruling.

First, the Superior Court rightly recognized that the question of *Yearsley* immunity is an issue of subject matter jurisdiction and is properly analyzed under Rule 12(b)(1), which enables the trial court to evaluate the evidence and make factual and legal determinations. The Superior Court's decision to apply Rule 12(b)(1) is well-supported by Supreme Court case law, as well as authority from the Fourth, First, and D.C. Circuits, all of which have held that *Yearsley* provides immunity from suit (and is therefore not simply an affirmative defense for resolution at the summary judgment stage or at trial).

Second, applying the *Yearsley* standard, the Superior Court properly held pursuant to 12(b)(1) that immunity for Palladium and Mr. Abel was warranted. The Superior Court rightly rejected Mr. Zakka's narrow view of the *Yearsley* standard (which would eliminate any discretion on the part of the contractor and would permit a plaintiff to rely on invented requirements that were not part of the contract) and

held that *Yearsley* simply requires that the government authorize the contractor's actions, that the contractor's actions not deviate from or violate that authorization, and that the authorization was validly conveyed. *Yearsley* immunity in this case is warranted under that standard, because as the Superior Court found, the State Department was informed as to the nature of Mr. Zakka's travel and expressly authorized it, and because Palladium complied with all directives from the State Department, contractual or otherwise.

Third, even under a Rule 56 summary judgment standard, the Superior Court's dismissal of the suit was proper because there was no dispute of material fact related to the authorization of Mr. Zakka's travel to Iran and Appellees were entitled to *Yearsley* immunity as a matter of law. Mr. Zakka failed to identify a dispute of material fact regarding the State Department's authorization of Mr. Zakka's travel or Palladium's compliance with all State Department directives. The affidavits introduced by Mr. Zakka and his reliance on security procedures which were optional under the agreements were insufficient to create any dispute of material fact relevant to the *Yearsley* analysis.

Finally, the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Zakka's requests for additional discovery regarding the optional security procedures, Palladium's communications with the State Department after Mr. Zakka's abduction, and additional communications from the State Department as to whether

the State Department authorized Palladium's actions. The Superior Court rightly noted that the information sought by these requests was irrelevant, given the unequivocal evidence that the State Department had communicated authorization to Palladium and that the security procedures were not required by the contract.

For all of these reasons, and as discussed further below, the Superior Court's September 15, 2021, judgment should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"Whether the trial court applied the proper legal standard is a question of law subject to *de novo* review." *Fraternal Ord. of Police, Metro. Police Dep't Lab. Comm. v. D.C.*, 52 A.3d 822, 827 (D.C. 2012) (citation omitted).

Should the Court hold that the Superior Court properly applied Rule 12(b)(1) to its *Yearsley* immunity ruling, "[t]he issue of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law that this court reviews *de novo*." *Second Episcopal Dist. Afr. Methodist Episcopal Church v. Prioleau*, 49 A.3d 812, 815 (D.C. 2012). However, when a factual inquiry is necessary for the court to determine whether it has subject matter jurisdiction, as was the case here, this Court reviews those factual findings for clear error. *Monteilh v. AFSCME*, *AFL-CIO*, 982 A.2d 301, 302 (D.C. 2009).

If a summary judgment standard applies, review of a grant of summary judgment is *de novo*. *Zere v. Dist. of Columbia*, 209 A.3d 94, 98 (D.C. 2019).

This Court reviews the Superior Court's discovery rulings for abuse of discretion. *Daniels v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 100 A.3d 139, 145 (D.C. 2014) (citing *Futrell v. Dep't of Lab. Fed. Credit Union*, 816 A.2d 793, 809 (D.C. 2003).

II. Yearsley Immunity Is a Jurisdictional Question.

The Superior Court properly held that *Yearsley* immunity is a jurisdictional question subject to Rule 12(b)(1) analysis. J.A. 793 (4-9). Mr. Zakka disagrees with that decision and cites a few cases suggesting that immunity under *Yearsley* is an affirmative defense, not a jurisdictional issue. Br. at 28-29. Both Mr. Zakka and the authority he relies upon are mistaken, because a contractor's immunity under *Yearsley* is derived from the very same sovereign immunity afforded to the U.S. government, which also is afforded Rule 12(b)(1) review. The Supreme Court (and other courts) have made clear that *Yearsley* bestows contractors immunity from *suit* if certain conditions are met, and is not a mere affirmative defense against liability.

In *Yearsley*, the plaintiffs sued a contractor that built dikes in the Missouri River pursuant to a contract with the United States, but in the process had caused the washing away of part of the plaintiff's land. *Yearsley*, 309 U.S. at 18-19. The Court held there was no liability as to the contractor because the work was authorized and directed by government officers, and was performed pursuant to an Act of Congress, which validly conferred its authority to carry out the project. 309 U.S. at 20. The *Yearsley* Court did not squarely address the issue of whether the immunity afforded

to the contractor was jurisdictional in nature or was an affirmative defense. However, the Court clearly linked that immunity to the kind afforded to the sovereign (which *is* jurisdictional in nature), holding that the contractor was immune from liability because of its contractual relationship with the government and because it had satisfied the aforementioned conditions. Those conditions (*i.e.*, whether the work was authorized and directed by the government and performed pursuant to an Act of Congress) were similar to those required for government immunity. To wit, the Court noted that "[w]here an agent or officer of the Government purporting to act on its behalf has been held to be liable for his conduct causing injury to another, the ground of liability has been found to be either that he exceeded his authority or that it was not validly conferred." *Id.* at 21.

The Supreme Court has not since addressed on the merits the issue of whether *Yearsley* immunity is a jurisdictional question. But it did strongly suggest that such immunity is jurisdictional in *Campbell-Ewald Co. v. Gomez*, 577 U.S. 153 (2016). In that case, the plaintiff brought a putative class action against an advertiser, alleging that it violated a federal statute prohibiting vendors from sending unsolicited text messages to consumers' cell phones. The advertiser argued, *inter alia*, that *Yearsley* immunity was warranted because it had sent the text messages pursuant to a contract with the Navy. The Court held that the advertiser was not entitled to *Yearsley* immunity, because there was nothing in the record to suggest

U.S. at 169. The Court explained that "[w]hen a contractor violates both federal law and the Government's explicit instructions, as here alleged, no 'derivative immunity' shields the contractor from suit by persons adversely affected by the violation." *Id.* at 166. In other words, had the contractor complied with those instructions, it *would have been entitled* to derivative immunity akin to what is afforded the sovereign. And with regard to sovereign immunity, the Court made clear that it provided immunity from *suit* (*i.e.*, the lawsuit as a whole) rather than a mere affirmative defense to be litigated at trial. *See id.* (presenting question as whether advertiser's "status as a federal contractor renders it immune from suit for violating the TCPA by sending text messages to unconsenting recipients.").

To date, three U.S. Courts of Appeals have held or strongly suggested that *Yearsley* immunity is jurisdictional. In *In re KBR, Inc., Burn Pit Litig.*, 744 F.3d 326 (4th Cir. 2014), the Fourth Circuit classified *Yearsley* under derivative sovereign immunity, holding that "under *Yearsley*, a government contractor is *not subject to suit* if (1) the government authorized the contractor's actions and (2) the government 'validly conferred' that authorization, meaning it acted within its constitutional power." 744 F.3d at 342 (quoting *Yearsley*, 309 U.S. at 20-21) (emphasis added).

The reason for affording private contractors immunity *from suit* in these circumstances is obvious. As the Fourth Circuit explained in *KBR*, "Yearsley

recognizes that private employees can perform the same functions as government employees" and that, from a policy perspective, "[b]y rendering government contractors immune from suit when they act within the scope of their validly conferred authority, the Yearsley rule combats the 'unwarranted timidity' that can arise if employees fear that their actions will result in lawsuits." Id. at 344 (citing Filarsky v. Delia, 566 U.S. 377, 389 (2012). Further, "affording immunity to government contractors 'ensur[es] that talented candidates are not deterred from public service' by minimizing the likelihood that their government work will expose their employer to litigation[]" and "'prevent[s] the harmful distractions from carrying out the work of government that can often accompany damages suits." Id. (citing Filarsky, 566 U.S. at 377). The unavoidable conclusion to be drawn from KBR is that, to fulfill its purpose, Yearsley immunity must shield the contractor from suit *entirely*, and therefore must be decided at the outset as a jurisdictional question.¹

The rationale for qualifying *Yearsley* immunity as a jurisdictional question is further underscored by the burden already faced by Palladium in this lawsuit. The time and expense incurred to conduct discovery and brief the issues in the underlying

¹ For a thorough analysis of this issue, *see* V. Eatherton, Is Derivative Sovereign Immunity Jurisdictional; An Analysis and Resolution of the Circuit Split, 47 PUB. CONT. L.J. 605 (2018). Eatherton addresses the Court of Appeals decisions on the issue and concludes that "[f]or both legal and policy reasons," courts should recognize that "*Yearsley* immunity is a jurisdictional bar raised by contractors as a 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction." *Id.* at 620-21.

lawsuit were not insubstantial. If unlimited discovery were to be allowed prior to a decision on the immunity issue, many government contractors could not afford the costs of defense and would be forced to resolve liability claims before Yearsley immunity could be addressed. There are a significant number of contractors in the Washington metropolitan area who perform contractual functions for the government every day, all of whom would face significant exposure before immunity could be decided.

Building on its decision in KBR, the Fourth Circuit squarely addressed the jurisdictional issue in Cunningham v. Gen. Dynamics Info. Tech., Inc., 888 F.3d 640 (4th Cir. 2018). In that case, the court affirmed the district court's Rule 12(b)(1) dismissal of a consumer's suit against a contractor arising from contact center operations support provided to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. The Fourth Circuit ruled that Yearsley immunity applied, and expressly held that Yearsley "operates as a jurisdictional bar to suit[.]" 888 F.3d at 650. The court explained that its holding was the logical extension of classifying Yearsley as derivative sovereign immunity, stating that "[i]f the basis for dismissing a Yearsley claim is sovereign immunity, then a Yearsley defense would be jurisdictional' because 'sovereign immunity deprives federal courts of jurisdiction to hear claims, and a court finding that a party is entitled to sovereign immunity must dismiss the action for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction." Id. at 649 (quoting Ackerson v. Bean

Dredging LLC, 589 F.3d 196, 207 (5th Cir. 2009)) (emphasis in *Cunningham* opinion). Thus, the court held, the district court properly applied Rule 12(b)(1) in evaluating whether *Yearsley* immunity was warranted. *Id.* at 650-51.

Additionally, while having not yet ruled on whether *Yearsley* is jurisdictional in nature, the D.C. Circuit noted in *In re U.S. Off. of Pers. Mgmt. Data Sec. Breach Litig.*, 928 F.3d 42 (D.C. Cir. 2019) ("*OPM*"), that *Yearsley* immunity renders government contractors immune from suit, unless the contractor "violates both federal law and the government's explicit instructions" – whereby it then "loses the shield of derivative immunity and *is subject to suit* by those adversely affected by the contractor's violations." 928 F.3d at 69 (emphasis added).

More recently, the First Circuit has also suggested that *Yearsley* operates as a jurisdictional bar. In *Moore v. Elec. Boat Corp.*, 25 F.4th 30 (1st Cir. 2022), a former Navy serviceman sued a federal contractor that built the submarine he served on for injuries allegedly caused by exposure to asbestos-containing products. In arguing that the suit, which was originally filed in state court, satisfied the standards for removal to federal court, the contractor presented several arguments as to colorable federal defenses, including *Yearsley* immunity. 25 F.4th at 37. The court held that the defendant's *Yearsley* argument satisfied the removal standard and, relying on the Fourth Circuit's rulings in *Cunningham* and *KBR*, noted that "[u]nder *Yearsley*, 'a government contractor *is not subject to suit* if (1) the government authorized the

contractor's actions and (2) the government "validly conferred" that authorization, meaning it acted within its constitutional power." *Id.* (citing *Cunningham*, 888 F.3d at 643 and *In re KBR*, 744 F.3d at 342) (emphasis added).

Mr. Zakka conveniently omits the rulings of the First and D.C. Circuits, and instead solely attacks the Fourth Circuit's *Yearsley* jurisprudence, wrongly framing it as a "sole outlier." Br. at 28. He points to decisions from the Fifth and Sixth Circuits, as well as a small handful of cases from district courts, and claims that "[t]he majority of courts to have considered the issue have held that '*Yearsley* is not jurisdictional in nature,' but rather 'closer in nature to qualified immunity for private individuals under government contract, which is an issue to be reviewed on the merits rather than for jurisdiction." *Id.* (quoting *Adkisson v. Jacobs Eng'g Grp., Inc.*, 790 F.3d 641, 647 (6th Cir. 2015)). This argument is flawed for several reasons.

First, neither the Fifth nor the Sixth Circuits have provided any in-depth analysis as to why they deem *Yearsley* to be a non-jurisdictional issue. The Fifth Circuit first considered the question in *Ackerson v. Bean Dredging LLC*, 589 F.3d 196 (5th Cir. 2009), holding that *Yearsley* "does not deny the court of subject-matter

² Mr. Zakka also cites to the government's Statement of Interest in *Clover v. Camp Pendleton & Quantico Hous. LLC*, 525 F. Supp. 3d 1140 (S.D. Cal. 2021) for its argument that "[d]erivative sovereign immunity to litigation does not exist." Br. at 29 (citing J.A. 716). Needless to say, positions taken in a brief are not binding on this Court, nor is a legal position taken by one presidential administration indicative of consistency by the government regarding that issue over time.

jurisdiction" on the sole basis that "Yearsley does not discuss sovereign immunity or otherwise address the court's power to hear the case." 589 F.3d at 207-208. But the mere fact that Yearsley did not "discuss" sovereign immunity does not undermine the nature and origin of the immunity it conferred; as discussed above, the Yearsley court couched its decision within the contours of the contractor's contractual relationship with the government, which enjoys sovereign immunity from suit in certain cases. Further, the Supreme Court's more recent decision in Campbell-Ewald firmly classified Yearsley as derivative sovereign immunity. See supra at 19.

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